J.A. 5-

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 82,260

SID J. JAN 81 1994 **DLERK, SUPREME COURT** Chief Deputy Clerk

MICHAEL GRANT,

Petitioner,

-vs-

STATE FARM FIRE AND CASUALTY COMPANY,

Respondent.

# BRIEF OF PETITIONER, MICHAEL GRANT

R. Fred Lewis, Esq. MAGILL & LEWIS, P.A. Attorneys for Petitioner Suite 200 7211 S.W. 62 Avenue Miami, FL 33143 Telephone: (305) 662-9999 (305) 467-3323/Brd. FAX: 666-0907

#

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

## Introduction

This is a direct conflict/certiorari proceeding seeking review of the decision rendered by the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, in <u>Grant v. State Farm Fire &</u> <u>Casualty Co.</u>, 620 So.2d 778 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). The Petitioner, MICHAEL GRANT, was the plaintiff in the trial court, appellant in the lower appellate court, and will be referred to herein as "GRANT." The Respondent, STATE FARM FIRE & CASUALTY COMPANY, was the defendant at the trial level, the appellee in the district court of appeal, and will be referred to in this brief as "STATE FARM."

The following symbols will be utilized in this brief:

"R" -- Record-on-Appeal;

"A" -- Appendix filed simultaneously herewith. All emphasis is supplied by counsel unless otherwise indicated.

## Case and Facts

GRANT initiated this action seeking both damages and declaratory relief in connection with injuries he sustained on May 19, 1990 (R. 21-24, 25-28). At the time of the subject accident, GRANT was operating a motorcycle owned by him when a collision occurred with an uninsured motorist (A. 1). STATE FARM had denied uninsured motorist benefits to GRANT based upon an exclusion contained in the STATE FARM policy which provided:

When Coverage U3 Does Not Apply

THERE IS NO COVERAGE:

\*\*\*

INSURED WHILE FOR BODILY INJURY то AN з. VEHICLE OWNED BY YOU, YOUR OCCUPYING A MOTOR SPOUSE, OR ANY RELATIVE IF IT IS NOT INSURED FOR THIS COVERAGE UNDER THIS POLICY (A. 2).

The insurance contract contained a definition for the word "car" in the preface section to the insurance policy which specifically provided that a "car" was a "land motor vehicle with four or more wheels, which is designed for use mainly on public roads" (A. 1). Conspicuously absent from the definitional section was a definition of the term "motor In a similar manner, each and every subsequent vehicle." section of the policy did <u>not</u> contain a definition of the term "motor vehicle" (R. 94-126). The section following the definitional portion of the contract entitled "DECLARATIONS CONTINUED" contained no definition for the term "motor The next section, entitled vehicle." "WHEN AND WHERE

COVERAGE APPLIES" had no description or definition of the term "motor vehicle." The concluding two sections, entitled "FINANCED VEHICLES" and "REPORTING A CLAIM -- INSURED'S DUTIES" were completed without mention of a definition for the term "motor vehicle."

The portion of the contract generally referred to as the liability coverage, was set forth in a section of the contract entitled "SECTION I -- LIABILITY -- COVERAGE A," and such portion of the policy had <u>no</u> definition of the term "motor vehicle." It is important to note that the portion of the contract which followed the liability coverage information was entitled "SECTION II -- NO FAULT -- COVERAGE P AND MEDICAL PAYMENTS -- COVERAGE C" contained a definition for the term "motor vehicle" and provided that such definition was:

Motor Vehicle -- means a vehicle with four or more wheels that:

- is self-propelled and is of a type:
  - a. designed for, and
  - b. required to be licensed for use on Florida highways, or
- is a trailer or semitrailer designed for use with a vehicle described in 1 above (R. 94-126)(A. 1-2).

It is important to note that all of the portions of the insurance contract that in any way mentioned uninsured or underinsured motorist coverage did <u>not</u> provide a definition for the term "motor vehicle." "SECTION III -- UNINSURED

MOTOR VEHICLE -- COVERAGES U AND U2" and "UNINSURED MOTOR VEHICLE -- COVERAGE U3" had absolutely no definition of the term "motor vehicle" (R. 94-126)(A. 1-2). With this set of circumstances, the only issue and dispute between GRANT and STATE FARM centered upon the legal application of the insurance coverage based upon the words of the contract, which attempted to exclude coverage for bodily injury to GRANT while occupying a "motor vehicle" owned by him but not insured under the STATE FARM policy (A. 1-2). On crossmotions for summary final judgment, the trial court held that the term "motor vehicle" as used in the exclusion, included a motorcycle (R. 152). Based upon such legal determination, the trial court entered summary final judgment in favor of STATE FARM and against GRANT, holding that GRANT was not entitled to uninsured motorist benefits for injuries he sustained while an occupant of a motorcycle (R. 152-153).

GRANT sought review of such determination in the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District (A. 1-3). The appellate court recognized that it was the position of GRANT that the only definition in the contract of the term "motor vehicle" referred to a vehicle with <u>four wheels</u> (A. 2). The court also recognized that it was STATE FARM'S position that the term "motor vehicle" should be interpreted with the definition of Florida's Financial Responsibility Law as set forth in Florida Statutes Chapter 324.

The District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, after reviewing decisions that considered Florida Statutes Section 627.4132 and the statutory definition presented by STATE FARM, held that the trial court had correctly entered summary final judgment, and that a motorcycle was a motor vehicle under the STATE FARM policy.

On rehearing, the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, acknowledged the decision in <u>Petersen v. State Farm</u> <u>Fire & Casualty Co.</u>, 615 So.2d 181 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), but declined to follow such authority and acknowledged that it was in conflict with the District Court of Appeal, Third District, on virtually identical facts.

GRANT timely filed his petition seeking certiorari review, and after the filing of jurisdictional briefs, this Court accepted jurisdiction and directed the filing of these briefs.

## POINT INVOLVED ON APPEAL

WHETHER A MOTORCYCLE IS WITHIN THE DEFINITION OF THE TERM "MOTOR VEHICLE" AS A MATTER OF LAW FOR THE PURPOSES OF INTERPRETING AND APPLYING AN EXCLUSION UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE WHERE THE ONLY TO "MOTOR VEHICLE" IN DEFINITION OF THE TERM THE ENTIRE INSURANCE CONTRACT REFERS EXCLUSIVELY TO A VEHICLE HAVING FOUR WHEELS?

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida law has historically required that class onenamed insureds, be provided with uninsured motorist benefits without regard to the location of such insured at the time injury. The concept has been clearly defined as providing benefits to a named insured whenever and whereever such insured is located. Such concept has dominated the interpretation and consideration of uninsured motorist issues in the state of Florida for over 20 years.

Here, an insurance company is attempting to assert an exclusion to uninsured motorist coverage, relying upon a specific term but asserting that the definition of such term as utilized in the policy should not be controlling. Here, the uninsured motorist statute does not define the term "motor vehicle." The insurance contract, as drafted by the insurance company, defines the term "car" with reference to a vehicle with four or more wheels, and in a similar fashion, defines the term "motor vehicle" in Section II of the insurance contract, as a vehicle having four or more wheels. There are no other definitions of the term "motor vehicle" in the insurance contract so the insurance company is attempting to utilize statutory definitions that were never designed nor intended for definitional purposes in insurance contracts.

The rules of statutory and insurance contract construction require that the term as utilized in the exclusionary provision be interpreted and applied most

strictly against the insurance company, most favorably to the insured, and to afford the broadest coverage available. This Court is addressing a concept of an exclusion and not coverage in the present proceeding.

Courts of this state have held that not only the specific term but other similar terms as used by insurance companies in the state of Florida create an ambiguity with regard to the coverage afforded, and with such ambiguity present, the Court must look to the terms of the contract as drafted for a determination of the issue. An attempt by an insurance company to rely upon statutory definitions that were never intended to be used for insurance contract purposes can lead to numerous problems and embarrassing contradictions if strictly applied.

The insurance company in this case had an opportunity by statutory definition to draft a broader exclusion, but selected not to follow the statutory language. Instead, STATE FARM utilized different terminology in attempting to exclude coverages, and it must be remembered that insurance companies can provide broader coverage than required by statute, but not coverage in a lesser form. STATE FARM selected the words, and must be bound by the definitions contained in its own policy.

#### ARGUMENT

A MOTORCYCLE IS NOT WITHIN THE DEFINITION OF THE TERM "MOTOR VEHICLE" AS A MATTER OF LAW FOR THE PURPOSES OF INTERPRETING AND APPLYING AN EXCLUSION WHERE UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE THE ONLY TO VEHICLE" THE OF THE TERM "MOTOR IN DEFINITION ENTIRE INSURANCE CONTRACT REFERS EXCLUSIVELY TO A VEHICLE HAVING FOUR WHEELS.

Resolution of the issue presently before this Court requires that the discussion be placed in an historical perspective which delineates the public policy considerations and intent with regard to uninsured motorist coverages in the It has been clearly recognized that the state of Florida. decision of this Court in Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971), is the guideline pursuant to which the courts have consistently referred to determine the extent to which the State of Florida requires uninsured motorist coverage to be provided, and how insurance contracts are to be interpreted. The unfailing principle of law that can be gleaned from the Mullis doctrine is that one who is a member of the first class of insureds is provided uninsured motorist protection whenever or wherever bodily injury is inflicted upon the The coverage is to the person and not to the insured. Similar to the present case, the injured individual vehicle. Mullis was operating a motorcycle which was not in specifically covered by the insurance policy issued by STATE The underlying policy expressed by this Court in FARM.

<u>Mullis</u> is directly applicable to the analysis here, and requires:

Richard Lamar Mullis [GRANT] is a member of the first class; as such he is covered by uninsured motorist liability protection issued pursuant to Section 627.0851 [now s. 627.727] whenever or wherever bodily injury is inflicted upon him by the negligence of an uninsured motorist. He would be covered thereby whenever he is injured while walking, or while riding in motor vehicles, or in public conveyances, including uninsured motor vehicles (including Honda motorcycles) owned by a member of the first class of insureds. Neither can an insured family member be excluded from such protection because of age, sex, or color of hair. Any other conclusion would be inconsistent with the intention of Section 627.0851 [now s. 627.727]. It was enacted to provide relief to innocent persons who are injured through the negligence of an uninsured motorist; it is not to be "whittled away" by exclusions and exceptions. Mullis at 238.

It is respectfully submitted that the public policy is clear and has been repeated time and again, as can be seen in <u>Coleman v. Florida Insurance Guaranty Association, Inc.</u>, 517 So.2d 686 (Fla. 1988), and <u>Florida Farm Bureau Casualty Co.</u> <u>v. Hurtado</u>, 587 So.2d 1314 (Fla. 1991). This Court has repeated with emphasis that uninsured motorist coverage is available to class one insureds regardless of their location, and such is the overriding consideration when analyzing uninsured motorist coverage issues.

Secondly, it is clear that the applicable legislation as set forth in Florida Statutes Section 627.727 does <u>not</u> contain a definition of the term "motor vehicle." Thus, when reviewing the present circumstances, one finds decisions such as <u>Valdes v. Prudence Mutual Casualty Co.</u>, 207 So.2d 312

(Fla. 3d DCA 1968), in which the court instructs that one is to look to definitions within an insurance contract to determine the extent of coverage provided. <u>Valdes</u> involved consideration of an exclusionary provision very similar to that involved in the present case. In <u>Valdes</u> an insured was operating a Vespa motorcycle which he owned and maintained, but did not insure under the insurance contract issued by The insured was injured by an uninsured Prudence Mutual. motorist, just as GRANT in the present case. The policy attempted to exclude coverage for any bodily injury to an insured while occupying an automobile owned by the insured, but not covered by the policy. The issue involved was whether the term "automobile" as used in the exclusionary provision, was broad enough to encompass the type of vehicle operated by the insured, just as such is the issue in this The Court reviewed the insurance contract to see if case. the term "automobile" was defined in the policy, and found that the definition made reference to a "four-wheeled vehicle." Such is directly applicable in the present case. Based upon the language of the insurance policy, the Valdes court clearly held that the exclusionary provision and the term "automobile" could not be utilized to defeat uninsured motorist coverage under the circumstances. A similar result can be found in Dorrell v. State Fire & Casualty Co., 221 So.2d 5 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969), in which the Court again looked to the definitions within the insurance contract itself to

reach a determination. Under the circumstances in this case it is absolutely clear that the only definition of the term "motor vehicle" in this entire insurance contract makes reference to a vehicle having four wheels, and such simply does not fit the category of the motorcycle involved in GRANT'S accident.

Third, rules of construction require that the term "motor vehicle" be interpreted and applied in a manner most favorable to GRANT. It is absolutely clear that under Florida law an ambiguity arises in connection with an insurance contract as a matter of law when more than one interpretation may be fairly provided to a particular policy provision. Ellsworth v. Insurance Co. of North America, 508 So.2d 395 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). Further, since STATE FARM is attempting to rely upon an exclusion, not only are ambiguities to be resolved more favorably in favor of the insured, but it is clear that clauses involving exclusionary terms are even more narrowly construed than clauses which have ambiguities in provisions that are in the nature of providing coverage. Quality Imports, Inc. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Insurance Co., 566 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); Triano v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 565 So.2d 748 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). Further, not only are the policies more strictly construed against an insurance company when an ambiguity is present, when the ambiguity itself is contained in an exclusionary provision the interpretation is

even more strictly more construed against the insurance company. <u>Wallach v. Rosenberg</u>, 527 So.2d 1386 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), <u>cert. denied</u>, 536 So.2d 246 (Fla. 1988).

Although an insurance contract may contain words that have generally accepted meanings, very simple terms may not provide such a clear and precise meaning in connection with insurance matters that one can determine with certainty what is or is not covered. As noted in National Merchandise Co., Inc. v. United Service Automobile Association, 400 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), an insurance company cannot, by failing to define a term within its contract, insist upon an interpretation that restricts coverage. It is acknowledged that there is a requirement that "plain language" be given its operative effect, however, insurance matters are clothed with public policy considerations, legislative enactments, and customs and usage within the insurance industry, along with a body of case law that addresses coverage matters. There has been a continuous parade of dispute with insurance companies with regard to the extent of uninsured motorist benefits that are available under numerous and various circumstances, and such circumstances reflect a very real effort on the part of the entire industry to whittle away benefits through exclusions and the presentation of arguments that may or may not comply with established precedent.

As demonstrated in cases such as <u>Allstate Insurance Co.</u> <u>v. Almgreen</u>, 376 So.2d 1184 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979), which was

later overruled on other grounds in Carquillo v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 529 So.2d 276 (Fla. 1988), the term "motor vehicle" is not so clear and precise as to be beyond the need for interpretation pursuant to the applicable rules of insurance contract construction. Here, STATE FARM has adamantly asserted that the term "motor vehicle" as used in the exclusion must be interpreted in accordance with Florida Statutes Section 324.021(1), however, STATE FARM would have the Court use only a part of such statutory definition because if the entire definition is utilized, the second sentence would place every type of vehicle outside the definition of "motor vehicle" if personal injury protection coverage has been purchased. Thus, a car would not be a "motor vehicle" if PIP coverage had been purchased for such automobile. It is just such reasoning that defies logic and common sense. If everyone obeyed the law there would essentially be no "motor vehicles" in the entire state of Florida. It is respectfully submitted that such is not a proper thought process, and one must look elsewhere than to the Financial Responsibility Law to define "motor vehicle." STATE FARM has placed all of its arguments in one basket, and such should be rejected by this Court. Further, as clearly set forth in Florida Statutes Section 324.021, which STATE FARM ignores, is that the words and phrases when used in that particular chapter and for the purpose of that particular chapter have certain meanings. The financial responsibility

law does not state that it is to be utilized for the interpretation of insurance contracts where insurance companies have failed to define the term utilized in the contract itself. As can be seen from a review of <u>Johns v.</u> <u>Liberty Mutual Fire Insurance Co.</u>, 337 So.2d 830 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976), and <u>Prinzo v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance</u> <u>Co.</u>, 465 So.2d 1364 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), the courts are in conflict as to whether the absence of a definition with regard to uninsured motorist legislation requires a reading and application of uninsured motorist coverage in <u>pari</u> <u>materia</u> with the Florida Financial Responsibility Law.

It is respectfully submitted that a panel of three appellate judges have recently determined that utilization of the term "motor vehicle" as used in the uninsured motorist section exclusion of the STATE FARM policy is ambiguous in Petersen, supra. As reflected in Petersen, and as recognized by the lower appellate court in this case, STATE FARM has defined in its definition section a "car" as a vehicle with four or more wheels, and in a separate section of the policy has defined the term "motor vehicle" as a vehicle with four or more wheels (A. 1). The Florida Legislature and the courts of this state have clearly set forth the public policy considerations related to construing the entire contract together. As required by the Florida Legislature in Florida Statutes Section 627.419(1), and according to the directives of the judicial system in cases such as <u>American</u>

Manufacturers Mutual Insurance Co. v. Horn, 353 So.2d 565 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), and Feldman v. Central National Insurance Co. of Omaha, 279 So.2d 897 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977), the entire contract is to be interpreted. Further, it is absolutely clear that Florida Statutes Section 627.727 provides for the minimum coverage required with regard to uninsured motorist benefits, and such in no way operates to prevent an insurance company from providing coverage that is greater than that required by the statutory provisions. See, e.g., Universal Underwriters Insurance Co. v. Morrison, 574 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1990); Newton v. Auto-Owners Insurance Co., 560 So.2d 1310 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). As noted by the court in Newton, when there is an issue as to whether an insurance company should be held to the coverage provided in the policy or provided some type of limitation by a statute, the resolution is in favor of the broader coverage and application of the contract as opposed to more limiting language that may be involved in the uninsured motorist context.

Here, STATE FARM was the drafter of the insurance contract and did have the option, pursuant to Florida Statutes Section 627.727(9)(d) to provide an exclusion that would eliminate uninsured motorist benefits if an insured were occupying <u>any vehicle</u> owned by the insured but not covered by the policy. However, STATE FARM selected its own language and utilized the term "motor vehicle" in the exclusion, which is a much more limited term than the concept

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