0 A 5-5-94

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. : 82,260

FILED SID J. WHITE

FEB 17 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COULT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

MICHAEL GRANT,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE FARM FIRE AND CASUALTY COMPANY,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES K. CLARK, ESQUIRE
FRANCES F. GUASCH, ESQUIRE
CLARK, SPARKMAN, ROBB & NELSON
Counsel for Respondent
Biscayne Building, Suite 1003
19 W. Flagler Street
Miami, Florida 33130
Telephone: (305) 374-0033 (Dade)
Broward Line: (305) 522-0045

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

When the legislature amended the Florida Uninsured Mctorist Statute to allow an insurer to offer limited UM coverage to its insureds for a reduced premium, it created a statutory exception to the general proposition announced in Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971). Mullis announced the lodestar principle that UM coverage cannot be limited in any way as to Class I insureds. The Legislature created a statutory exception to that overriding principle in its enactment of §627.727(9), Florida Statutes. Accordingly, GRANT's argument that Mullis applies to the case at bar has no foundation in the law. As such, the rule of Mullis does not require a determination that GRANT is entitled to coverage from the limited-UM policy covering his Corvette when he was injured while driving a motorcycle he owned but chose not to insure.

GRANT takes the position in his Brief that the Court should look to the definition of the term "motor vehicle" as contained in his PIP policy provision in determining the application of the UM provisions of his policy. This is contrary to the settled law in the State of Florida as enunciated in Standard Marine Insurance Company v. Allyn, 333 Sc.2d 497 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976). There an insurance company urged upon the Court the same argument that GRANT does here in attempting to avoid the application of UM coverage where an insured was struck by an uninsured motorcycle. Allyn held that the statutory definition of "motor vehicle" found in Florida's Financial Responsibility Act was more consonant with the public policy of this State as to uninsured motorist coverage than the PIP definition of that term as found in the insurance policy.

This Court, in <u>Carguillo v. State Farm Mutual Automobile</u>

Insurance Company, 529 So.2d 276 (Fla. 1988), also determined that, in construing the term "motor vehicle" under uninsured motorist coverages, the definition of that term as found in the Financial Responsibility Act should be applied. The Financial Responsibility Act defines a motor vehicle in such a manner as to include a motorcycle. Accordingly, GRANT's argument that the definition as found in the PIP section of the policy is likewise lacking in legal foundation.

Finally, GRANT argues that the term "motor vehicle" is ambiguous and should be defined by the Court in a narrow manner so as to exclude motorcycles. While it is true that

ambiguities should be construed against an insurance carrier, that rule applies only when a genuine inconsistency or uncertainty remains after resort to the ordinary rules of construction. Insurance policies must be given practical and sensible interpretations in accordance with the natural meaning of the words employed. It is submitted that the plain and everyday common usage of the term "motor vehicle" necessarily includes a motorcycle.

The Opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal in Petersen v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Company, 615 So.2d 181 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1993) is incorrect. That Court determined that the term "motor vehicle" is ambiguous because it is not defined in the uninsured motorist provisions of the policy although it is defined in the PIP section of the policy. The Third District Court failed to follow its own precedents in reaching its decision in Petersen and further failed to follow the rule of "plain meaning" in construing insurance policy language.

The public policy of the State of Florida requires that the term "motor vehicle" include a motorcycle. To find otherwise would impermissably limit UM coverage in situations as set out in Allyn. Simply put, a motorcycle cannot, on the one hand, be a "motor vehicle" when ascertaining the applicability of UM benefits and, on the other hand, not be a "motor vehicle" in determining whether a UM coverage limitation applies. Public policy and common sense militate in favor of a consistent definition to be applied in both circumstances.

applies. Public policy and common sense militate in favor of a consistent definition to be applied in both circumstances.

Accordingly, the decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District of Florida, entered in the case <u>sub judice</u>, should be affirmed and the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal, in <u>Petersen v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Company</u>, should be disapproved.

ARGUMENT

<u>A</u> .

In 1987 the legislature amended the Florida Uninsured Motorist Statute (§627.727, Florida Statutes) to allow an insurer to offer limited UM coverage to its insureds for reduced premiums. The statute provided that UM coverage may be limited to exclude benefits to an insured for injuries while occupying vehicles owned by the insured but not listed on the policy. The statute provides, in part, that:

- "(9) Insurers may offer policies of uninsured motorist coverage containing policy provisions, in language approved by the department, establishing that if the insured accepts this offer:
 - (d) The uninsured motorist coverage provided by the policy does not apply to the named insured or family members residing in his household who are injured while occupying any vehicle owned by such insureds for which uninsured motorist coverage was not purchased".

§627.727(9)(d), Florida Statutes (1989). Thus, if this limitation to coverage is accepted by an insured, a carrier is not obligated to provide UM coverage for injuries occurring while an insured is operating a owned, but uninsured, vehicle.

Contrary to the argument contained in GRANT's Brief, the principle announced in Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971), is not applicable to the case <u>sub judice</u>. Unlike <u>Mullis</u>, the Petitioner here purchased his UM coverage with specific coverage limitations duly authorized by the Legislature. Therefore, although Mullis dictates the public policy and doctrine governing uninsured motorist coverage in general, the Legislature, in enacting Florida Statute §627.727(9)(d), created a statutory exception Florida courts have recognized and approved this to it. legislative exception. In Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company v. Phillips, 609 So.2d 1385 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), the Fifth District Court of Appeal noted that the statute permits an insurer to narrow the parameters UM coverage where the insured knowingly accepts the limitation. That Court held:

"Section 627.727(9)(d) creates a statutory exception to the <u>Mullis</u> rule invalidating UM coverage exclusions as to Class I insured".

Therefore, the historical perspective and public policy reasons advanced in <u>Mullis</u> as to Class I insureds are not controlling in the case at bar. GRANT accepted and purchased, for a reduced premium, a form of UM coverage which contained statutorily approved limitations. In order to offer the

limited coverage, the statute requires the insurer to revise its premium rates to reflect at least a 20 percent reduction and to inform an insured of the limitations imposed under the subsection.¹ This was presumptively done here.

Accordingly, <u>Mullis</u> does not provide a basis for finding the limited coverage here is either invalid or against public policy. While Petitioner <u>is</u> a Class I insured under his STATE FARM policy, he voluntarily elected to purchase the limited form of UM coverage permitted by law. This limited coverage does not apply to injuries sustained while occupying other vehicles owned by an insured but not insured for UM coverage under the policy. Contrary to Petitioner's argument, the underlying policy and rule of <u>Mullis</u> do not, then, apply to the case <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u> to invalidate the policy provision applicable to this situation.

В.

GRANT is correct that STATE FARM's uninsured motorist coverage, like the uninsured motorist statute, does not define the words "motor vehicle". Because of this, GRANT argues that the court should look to the portion of the policy defining

The statute provides in part: "Any insurer who provides coverage which includes the limitations provided in this subsection shall file revised premium rates with the department for such uninsured motorist coverage to take effect...". Additionally,, "...insurers shall inform the named insured..., of the limitations imposed under this subsection and that such coverage is an alternative to coverage without such limitations.

"motor vehicle" under the PIP coverage and apply that definition to the policy's uninsured motorist coverage. As will be seen, this argument runs counter to the existing case law on the issue, common sense, and the public policy of the State of Florida.

In Standard Marine Insurance Company v. Allyn, 333 So.2d 497 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976), the insured, Allyn, was struck while a pedestrian and severely injured by an uninsured motorcycle. Allyn filed an uninsured motorist claim against his insurance company, Standard Marine Insurance Company, as a result of his injuries. The insurance company argued there that a motorcycle was not an uninsured motor vehicle within the terms of the insurance policy. It urged, as GRANT does here, the court to look to the definition of the term "motor vehicle" appearing in the no-fault (PIP) coverage and to apply it to the uninsured motorist coverage. There, as here, under the PIP coverages, a motor vehicle was limited to a "four-wheel self-propelled vehicle".

The court, in <u>Allyn</u>, rejected the insurance company's limited interpretation of the terms "motor vehicle". It noted:

"We do not perceive that the legislature, by enacting the Florida Automobile Reparation Reform Act, intended to exclude those motor vehicles enumerated above from the umbrella of uninsured motorists. The statutory definition of a motor vehicle found in the Financial Responsibility Act is far more consonant with the public policy of this state as to uninsured motorist than the PIP definition in the instant policy..."

At page 499.

The insurance company in <u>Allyn</u>, as GRANT does here, argued that the courts, in interpreting an insurance policy, should follow the definitions given in the policy itself. In refuting that argument, the <u>Allyn</u> court cited to <u>Standard Accident Insurance Company v. Gavin</u>, 184 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966):

"It is well settled in this state that where a contract of insurance is entered into on a matter surrounded by statutory limitations and requirements, the parties are presumed to have entered into such agreement with reference to the statute, and the statutory provisions become a part of the contract..."

The rationale is <u>Allyn</u> was followed in a non-stacking context, as presented here, in <u>Indomenico vs. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company</u>, 388 So.2d 29 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980) and <u>State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company vs. Kuhn</u>, 374 So.2d 1079 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979), <u>appeal dismissed</u>, 383 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1980).

This Court has held, in <u>Carquillo v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company</u>, 529 So.2d 276 (Fla. 1988), that in construing the term "motor vehicle" under uninsured motorist coverages, the definition of that term as found in Florida's Financial Responsibility Act should be applied. In other words, that the uninsured motorist statute should be read <u>in pari materia</u> with the financial responsibility law.

In so doing, it specifically disapproved and overruled Allstate Insurance Company v. Almgreen, 376 So.2d 1184 (Fla.

2nd DCA 1979).² Petitioner here has relied on <u>Almgreen</u> and <u>Johns v. Liberty Mutual Fire Insurance Co.</u>, 337 So.2d 830 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1976), <u>cert. denied</u>, 348 So.2d 949 (Fla. 1977), for the proposition that the Financial Responsibility Acts are <u>not</u> to be read in pari materia to the UM laws. As seen, however, <u>Carguillo</u> disapproved <u>Almgreen</u> and specifically relied upon the Financial Responsibility laws to arrive at a definition for the term "motor vehicle".

Florida's Financial Responsibility Act defines a "motor vehicle" as follows:

"Motor vehicle. - every self-propelled vehicle which is designed and required to be licensed for use upon a highway,...but not including any bicycle or moped. However, the term "motor vehicle" shall not include any motor vehicle as defined in §627.732(1) when the owner of such vehicle has complied with the requirements of §§627.730-627.7405, inclusive, unless the provisions of §324.051 apply..."

§324.021(1), Florida Statutes (1989).

The Financial Responsibility Act specifically excludes from its definition of "motor vehicle" the definition of that term found under the Florida No-Fault (PIP) Act. Accordingly, GRANT's argument that the PIP definition of "motor vehicle" (which is limited to vehicles with four wheels) should be applied in this case has no foundation.

Almgreen held that the Financial Responsibility Law, is not to be read in pari materia with the UM laws.

It should be noted that, save for the definition of motor vehicle as it appears in the No-Fault Act, each other statutory definition of the word "motor vehicle" includes a motorcycle, either specifically or by implication. See, e.g. §316.003(21), Florida Statutes (1989) ("motor vehicle. - any self-propelled vehicle not operated upon rails or guideway, but not including any bicycle or moped."); §320.01(1), Florida Statutes (1989) ("motor vehicle means: an automobile, motorcycle, truck, and semi-trailer trailer, semi-trailer, truck tractor combination, or any other vehicle operated on the roads of this state..."); §322.01(26), Florida Statutes (1989) ("motor vehicle means any self-propelled vehicle, including a motor vehicle combination, not operated upon rails or guideway, excluding vehicles moved solely by human power, motorized wheelchairs, and motorized bicycles..."); and, §520.02(7), Florida Statutes (1989) ("motor vehicle means any device or trailer, including automobiles, motorcycles, motor trucks, trailers, mobile homes, and all other vehicles operated over the public highways and streets of this state and propelled by power other than muscular power...").

Despite the fact that all of these statutory definitions of motor vehicle are broad enough to encompass a motorcycle, it is the position of STATE FARM that, in accordance with Carquillo, the definition of the words "motor vehicle", when used in an uninsured motorist context, should be taken from the

definition appearing in the Florida Financial Responsibility Act.

As stated in <u>Allyn</u>, the parties to the insurance contract here incorporated these relevant statutory provisions in entering their agreement.

Petitioner also relies on the cases of Valdes v. Prudential Mutual Casualty Company, 207 So. 2d 312 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1968), and Dorrell v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Company, 221 So.2d 5 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1969) as giving support to his argument that a motorcycle is not a motor vehicle. However, both of these cases are clearly distinguishable. In <u>Valdes</u>, the insurer was relying on an exclusion in the policy under which uninsured "automobiles" were not covered. The Court held that a Vespa motor scooter was not an "automobile" and that the exclusion did not therefore apply. First of all, the plain meaning of the term "automobile" is more restrictive than that of "motor vehicle". Secondly, the Court in reaching its decision relied upon a out-of-state Iowa policy which defined the term "automobile" as not including a motor scooter. In the case at bar, the term in dispute is "motor vehicle", which is more expansive and broad a term than "automobile". The <u>Dorrell</u> decision also involved the definition of the term "automobile". Interestingly, the <u>Dorrell</u> Court extended the definition of a automobile to include a motorcycle and afforded coverage. Although neither of these cases are on point, the <u>Dorrell</u> decision does tend to lend support to STATE FARM's argument here.

The Petitioner argues the term "motor vehicle" is ambiguous and should be therefore construed strictly against STATE FARM. A term does not become ambiguous however merely because it is not defined in an insurance policy. If this were true, an insurer would be faced with the impossible task of defining each and every term in its policies to avoid any argument over ambiguities.

Courts are not free to extend insurance coverage beyond the <u>plain language</u> of a policy absent waiver, estoppel or some overriding public policy. <u>American Casualty Company of Reading, Pa. v. Fernandez</u>, 490 So.2d 1340, 1341 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1986).

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